FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
5/19/2023 4:30 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 5/22/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102002</u>-3 Court of Appeals No. 56461-1-II

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

TIMOTHY MICHAEL KELLY,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

RICHARD W. LECHICH Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711
richard@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Timothy Kelly, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant review of Court of Appeals' published decision terminating review, issued on March 21, 2023. Mr. Kelly's motion to reconsider was denied on April 24, 2023.

In the published decision, the Court of Appeals *reversed* the trial court's decision to resentence Mr. Kelly and reduce his draconian sentence of over 32 years' imprisonment (originally based on a pyramiding of firearm related offenses stemming from burglaries where firearms were stolen) by five years.

The Court of Appeals did so on the theory that the method reducing the sentence was illegal. It did so even though the State did not object in the trial court and contributed to any error by preparing the order reducing Mr. Kelly's sentence. And notwithstanding that there were legal ways to achieve the same

¹ These rulings are attached in the appendix.

reduction and clear evidence that the trial court wanted to reduce Mr. Kelly's sentence, the Court of Appeals refused to remand the case back to the trial court.

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

- 1. Whether the invited error doctrine barred the State's challenge on appeal to the reduction of Mr. Kelly's sentence where the State did not argue resentencing or reduction was illegal and the State prepared the order reducing Mr. Kelly's sentence.
- 2. If invited error does not bar the State's challenge, should this Court overrule its decision in <u>State v. Brown</u>, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999), which incorrectly and harmfully holds that sentencing courts lack discretion to impose an exceptional sentence with regard to firearm enhancements?
- 3. Even if the manner by which the trial court reduced Mr. Kelly's sentence was illegal under <u>Brown</u>, is the proper remedy remand for a new sentencing hearing? This requires

answering whether (1) the facial invalidity exception or (2) the significant change in law exception to the one-year time bar to collateral attacks applies where the challenged sentence was based in part on prior drug possession convictions—now unconstitutional and void—and the original sentence concerned an exceptional downward sentence?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Kelly refers this Court to his statement of the case set out in his Brief of Respondent/Cross-Appellant.

To summarize, in 2006, based on convictions arising out of several burglaries, Mr. Kelly received lengthy criminal sentences in two separate cases. The first case resulted in a sentence of about 10 years, while the second case resulted in a sentence of about 32 years. Because the second case was sentenced on a different day, the two sentences were ordered to run consecutively. The three-decade sentence in the second case was based on consecutive sentences for two firearm enhancements, convictions for theft of firearms, and

convictions for unlawful possession of firearms. Despite its length, this sentence was actually an exceptional sentence downward because the trial court found that running all of the convictions for theft of a firearm consecutively would be excessive. The firearm enhancements and convictions for unlawful possession of a firearm were based on firearms stolen from the homes. Although Mr. Kelly violated the sanctity of these homes and stole property, his acts were non-violent.

In 2021, based on this Court's decision in <u>State v. Blake</u>,² which declared the drug possession statute unconstitutional, Mr. Kelly received some hope for relief. Mr. Kelly's sentence in the two cases had been based in part on convictions for drug possession, now void under <u>Blake</u>.

At a hearing to address the impact of <u>Blake</u>, the trial court recognizing Mr. Kelly's sentence was unjust and disproportionate. Based on the finding by the previous

² 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021).

sentencing court in support of an exceptional sentence, the court ordered the two firearm enhancements to run concurrently rather than consecutively. This reduced Mr. Kelly's sentence by five years.

The prosecutor did not object or argue that the trial court lacked this legal authority. Rather, the prosecutor prepared and presented an order for the court to sign carrying out the court's ruling.

In Mr. Kelly's other case, the trial court refused to resentence him on the grounds that he had served the decadelong sentence.

Dissatisfied that Mr. Kelly's over four-decades long sentence had been reduced by five years, the prosecution filed a notice of appeal arguing for the first time that the reduction of Mr. Kelly's sentence was unlawful.

In the State's appeal, the State argued the trial court lacked discretion under this Court's decision in <u>State v. Brown</u>, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999) to reduce Mr. Kelly's

sentence by running the two five-year sentences on the firearm enhancements concurrently rather than consecutively. The State did not argue in its opening brief that resentencing Mr. Kelly was untimely and barred under RCW 10.73.090(1) and that no exception to this statute of limitations applied.

In connection to Mr. Kelly's appeal of his other case where the trial court refused to resentence Mr. Kelly, Mr. Kelly filed a cross-appeal in this case, arguing that concurrent sentences in the two cases was required and that the trial court erred in not reexamining the imposition of legal financial obligations under current law.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the invited error doctrine did not bar the State's challenge on appeal. State v. Kelly, __ Wn. App. 2d __, 526 P.3d 39, 41-43 (2023). The appellate court agreed with the State that the trial court lacked authority to run the two five-year sentences on the firearm enhancements concurrently as part of an exceptional sentence under this Court's decision in Brown. Id. at 43-45. The

court rejected Mr. Kelly's request for remand to give the trial court an opportunity to reduce his sentence through a lawful method. The court did so based on the theory that resentencing was time barred by statue and that the facial invalidity exception was inapplicable. <u>Id.</u> at 45-46.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The Court should grant review to decide whether the invited error doctrine bars a State's claim on appeal of a sentencing error when the State contributed and assented to the claimed error by preparing the written order that created the error.

Under the invited error doctrine, a "party may not materially contribute to an erroneous application of law at trial and then complain of it on appeal." Ames v. Ames, 184 Wn. App. 826, 849, 340 P.3d 232 (2014). A party invites an error by affirmatively assenting to it, materially contributing to it, or benefiting from it. State v. Momah, 167 Wn.2d 140, 154, 217 P.3d 321 (2009). For example, "a party may not request an instruction and later complain on appeal that the requested instruction was given." Id.

Here, although the prosecution requested a different sentence, it failed to object when the trial court stated it was ordering the firearm enhancements to run concurrently. Rather than object, the prosecution contributed to any error by preparing and presenting an order for the trial court to sign with the purported error. CP 106-11; RP 28-29.

The Court of Appeals' held the invited error doctrine did not apply based its decision in State v. Mercado, 181 Wn. App. 624, 631, 326 P.3d 154 (2014). There, the court recognized the invited error doctrine does not apply to *defendants* who receive a sentence *in excess* of that allowed by the law. Mercado, 181 Wn. App. 631. But here, the challenge was by the State and the challenged sentence was not in excess of that allowed by the law. In the words of this Court, it was not an agreement "to punishment in excess of that which the Legislature has established." In re Pers. Restraint of Goodwin, 146 Wn.2d 861, 873-74, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). Consequently, the Court of

Appeals erred by applying the limited sentencing error exception to the invited error doctrine.

This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Sentencings are regular and frequent. The State should not be able to complain about a sentencing error for the first time on appeal when its assents and materially contributes to the error by preparing the order that puts in place the very error that the State challenges. The rationale for the exception regarding illegal and excessive sentences does not apply in these circumstances. The extension of the exception creates an incentive for the State to remain silent so it can appeal and create precedent. It also incentivizes shoddy work at sentencing because any error unfavorable to the State can be argued on appeal. Review should be granted.

2. The Court should grant review to overrule its 5-4 decision in *Brown* holding that sentences on firearm enhancements may not be modified through an exceptional sentence. As recognized by two justices of this Court, *Brown* is a "travesty."

The basis for the Court of Appeals' undoing of the reduction in Mr. Kelly's sentence was this Court's decision in State v. Brown, 139 Wn.2d 20, 983 P.2d 608 (1999). There, in a narrow 5 to 4 decision, the Court stated that sentencing courts do not have the discretion to depart from mandatory firearm sentencing rules. 139 Wn.2d at 29. The basis for this was the following statutory language:

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, all firearm enhancements under this section are mandatory, shall be served in total confinement, and shall run consecutively to all other sentencing provisions, including other firearm or deadly weapon enhancements, for all offenses sentenced under this chapter.

RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e).

<u>Brown</u> is dubious. Despite the statutory language, the statute does not say the length of time imposed for a firearm enhancement cannot be modified under the exceptional

sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.535. This makes it different from the restrictive language used by the Legislature in RCW 9.94A.540(1), which instructs that mandatory minimum terms for certain offenses "shall not be varied or modified under RCW 9.94A.535." RCW 9.94A.540(1). Thus, that similar language is not included in the firearm enhancement provisions indicates the length of enhancements can be modified under the exceptional sentence provisions. See State v. Conover, 183 Wn.2d 706, 713, 355 P.3d 1093 (2015) ("the legislature's choice of different language indicates a different legislative intent"). This creates ambiguity on whether concurrent sentences are permitted. State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 54, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017). Even if there are other reasonable interpretations, the rule of lenity requires the reasonable interpretation that is most favorable to the defendant be applied, meaning that concurrent sentences are allowed. Conover, 183 Wn.2d at 711-12; see McFarland, 189 Wn.2d at 55.

Sconiers, joined by Justice Johnson, supports this analysis.

There, two youths robbed others of candy on Halloween while armed with a firearm and were sentenced to decades of imprisonment due to "mandatory" firearm sentence enhancements. State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 12-13, 391 P.3d 409 (2017). This Court reversed and overruled Brown as it relates to juvenile sentences. Id. at 21 & n.5. The Court reasoned that in light of Eighth Amendment jurisprudence, the statutes must be read to allow trial courts discretion to impose mitigated downward sentences for juveniles. Id. at 21, 24-26.

Justice Madsen agreed this was the right result, but reasoned this was because "the discretion vested in sentencing courts under the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 (SRA) includes the discretion to depart from the otherwise mandatory sentencing enhancements when the court is imposing an exceptional sentence." <u>Id.</u> at 34 (Madsen, J., concurring). Her analysis would apply to adult defendants.

As explained by Justice Madsen, because the Legislature did not specifically forbid exceptional sentences downward for firearm enhancements, but forbade exceptional sentences in other circumstances, exceptional sentences for firearm enhancements are proper:

Although the SRA explicitly gives sentencing courts the discretion to impose exceptional sentences, it also sets forth certain crimes with mandatory minimum sentences from which sentencing courts have no discretion to depart. RCW 9.94A.540. The legislature explicitly stated that such mandatory minimums "shall not be varied or modified under RCW 9.94A.535," the exceptional sentence provision. RCW 9.94A.540(1). The enumerated crimes for which courts do not have the power to impose exceptional sentences do not include any of the crimes or enhancements at issue in this case. See RCW 9.94A.540. And where a statute specifies the things on which it operates, we infer the legislature intended all omissions. Queets Band of Indians v. State, 102 Wn.2d 1, 5, 682 P.2d 909 (1984). Therefore, RCW 9.94A.540 did not apply in this case to deprive the sentencing court of its ability to consider an exceptional sentence.

<u>Id.</u> at 36. The language of RCW 9.94A.533 also does not mandate a contrary result because it "does not exclude the

enhanced sentences from modification under the exceptional sentence provision." Id. at 37.

In sum, it is improper to read additional prohibitions into RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). The Legislature was silent as to whether the length of firearm enhancements could be modified as part of an exceptional sentence. RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e). As RCW 9.94A.540(1) shows, the Legislature knows how to prohibit this, but did not. Accordingly, RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) should not be read to deprive sentencing courts of their discretion to impose exceptional sentences when there are firearm enhancements.

"Proportionality and consistency in sentencing are central values of the SRA, and courts should afford relief when it serves these values." McFarland, 189 Wn.2d at 57. But mandatory consecutive sentences for firearm enhancements has "robbed judges of the discretion that the legislature, through the SRA, expressly gives them in order to fulfill the purposes of the act." Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 39 (Madsen, J.,

concurring). This creates firearm sentences that "may be as long as or even vastly exceed the portion imposed for the substantive crimes." <u>Id.</u> at 25. This is a "travesty." <u>Id.</u> at 40 (Madsen, J., concurring).

This Court "will overrule prior precedent when there has been a clear showing that an established rule is incorrect and harmful or when the legal underpinnings of our precedent have changed or disappeared altogether." State v. Pierce, 195 Wn.2d 230, 240, 455 P.3d 647 (2020) (cleaned up). Brown should be overruled because it is wrong and demonstrable harmful, as this case and others prove.

Besides being wrong for the reasons outlined by Justice Madsen, <u>Brown</u> failed to consider the constitutional-doubt canon of construction. Statutes must be interpreted to avoid constitutional doubts or problems. <u>Gomez v. United States</u>, 490 U.S. 858, 864, 109 S. Ct. 2237, 104 L. Ed. 2d 923 (1989); <u>Utter v. Bldg. Indus. Ass'n of Washington</u>, 182 Wn.2d 398, 434, 341 P.3d 953 (2015); Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d at 24; Antonin

Scalia & Bryan A. Garner, <u>Reading Law: The Interpretation of Legal Texts</u> 247-51 (2012) ("A statute should be interpreted in a way that avoids placing its constitutionality in doubt").

Unless the firearm enhancements provisions are subject to modification through an exceptional sentence, unconstitutional cruel punishment is the sure result. The state and federal constitutions forbid cruel punishment. U.S. Const. amend. VIII; Const. art. I, § 14. Washington's constitutional provision has frequently been independently interpreted to provide greater protection than its federal analog. In re Pers. Restraint of Monschke, 197 Wn.2d 305, 311-13 & n.6, 482 P.3d 276 (2021); State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 15, 427 P.3d 621 (2018).

Lengthy consecutive sentences for firearm enhancements create disproportionate and draconian sentences. Without the escape valve of an exceptional sentence, people will receive sentences that are unconstitutionally cruel. Absent express language stating that firearm enhancements are not subject to

modification or departure through an exceptional sentence, firearm enhancements remain subject to such modification or departure. This interpretation avoids a substantial constitutional question. Thus, it is the interpretation that must be adopted. See Blake, 197 Wn.2d at 215-16 (Stephens, J., concurring) (statute should be read in a manner to avoid constitutional issue); State v. Jenks, 197 Wn.2d 708, 733, 487 P.3d 482 (2021) (Madsen, J., dissenting) (to avoid offending constitutional prohibition against cruel punishment, statute at issue should be construed to apply retroactively).

This is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). As a report from the Department of Corrections recognizes, people of color "are more likely to receive weapon enhancements than White individuals convicted for the same types of crimes" and "Black individuals received 1.5 times more enhancements, on average,

than White individuals."³ "Concurrent versus consecutive weapons enhancements could impact sentence length disparity in the current prison population given the overrepresentation of the Black, Hispanic, and Asian and Pacific Islander populations among those with two or more weapon enhancements."⁴ Permitting exceptional sentences for firearm enhancements would go a long way to helping remedy the problem of systemic racial injustice that this Court committed itself to ending in its June 4, 2020 letter. Letter from Wash. State Sup. Ct. to Members of Judiciary & Legal Cmty. (June 4, 2020).⁵ Review should be granted.

https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20 Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGN ED%20060420.pdf

³ Sentence Enhancements and Race, Karl Jones, PhD, MSW, Kevin Keogh, MA, and Connor Saxe, Department of Corrections (Mar. 1, 2022). Attached in appendix. Available at, https://doc.wa.gov/docs/publications/reports/300-RE008.pdf

⁴ <u>Id.</u>

3. The Court should grant review to decide whether either the facial invalidity exception or the substantial change in law exception to the one-year time bar on collateral attacks applies and permits resentencing in cases where a now unconstitutional and void conviction was used in the previous sentencing.

The record plainly shows that the trial court wanted to reduce Mr. Kelly's sentence. RP 23-25. Besides running the two five-year sentence on the firearm enhancements concurrently, the trial court could have achieved a five-year reduction or similar reduction by other lawful means. For example, through the exceptional sentence provision, the court could have reduced the consecutive sentences on the two convictions for unlawful possession of a firearm from 95 to 65 months each. See State v. McFarland, 189 Wn.2d 47, 52-55, 399 P.3d 1106 (2017); State v. McFarland, 18 Wn. App. 2d 528, 540-41, 492 P.3d 829 (2021). Other legal methods of reducing the total sentence can be envisioned.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeals refused Mr. Kelly's request to remand for a new hearing to address these

possibilities. <u>Cf. McFarland</u>, 189 Wn.2d at 58-59 (remand for resentencing warranted where record suggested trial court would exercise discretion to impose reduced sentence). The court did so on the grounds that resentencing would constitute an untimely collateral attack that was time barred under RCW 10.73.090(1).

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the facial invalidity exception under RCW 10.73.090(1) did not apply because although the now void prior drug possession convictions were counted in the offender score, Mr. Kelly's standard sentencing ranges had not changed. Kelly, 526 P.3d at 45-46. The court relied on this Court published order in In re Pers. Restraint of Richardson, 200 Wn.2d 845, 525 P.3d 939 (2022).

But neither <u>Richardson</u> nor the authority cited in <u>Richardson</u> involved a sentence where the trial court had imposed an exceptional sentence downward. Here, the original sentencing court imposed an exceptional sentence downward because "[t]he operation of the multiple offense policy of RCW

9.94A.589 results in a presumptive sentence that is clearly excessive in light of the purpose of [the Sentencing Reform Act]." RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g). When a trial court applies RCW 9.94A.535(1)(g), it must have an accurate understanding of the prior offenses. Here, the elimination of the prior drug possession convictions provided greater support for a greater exceptional sentence downward, as the trial court found.

Richardson was decided by five justices through an order and without the typical merits briefing and argument that usually precedes a significant decision. Mr. Kelly respectfully submits that Richardson is wrong and that the issue should be decided by all nine members of this Court through the more typical process.

Moreover, the significant change in law exception to the time bar applies. RCW 10.73.100(6). Contrary to the Court of Appeals' representation, it is not true that Mr. Kelly did "not claim any of the RCW 10.73.100 exceptions apply here." Kelly, 526 P.3d at 45. In his answer to the prosecution's second

statement of additional authorities, filed on January 25, 2023, Mr. Kelly argued that the significant change in the law exception under RCW 10.73.100(6) applied. Answer at 2-3.

Under this exception, the time limit does not apply where:

There has been a significant change in the law, whether substantive or procedural, which is material to the conviction, sentence, or other order entered in a criminal or civil proceeding instituted by the state or local government, and either the legislature has expressly provided that the change in the law is to be applied retroactively, or a court, in interpreting a change in the law that lacks express legislative intent regarding retroactive application, determines that sufficient reasons exist to require retroactive application of the changed legal standard.

RCW 10.73.100(6) (emphases added)

Under RCW 10.73.100(6), the motion for resentencing was not barred because <u>Blake</u> is a significant change in the law that is retroactive and material to Mr. Kelly's sentence.

<u>Blake</u>, which declared the drug possession statute unconstitutional, is undoubtedly a significant change in the law.

See In re Pers. Restraint of Ali, 196 Wn.2d 220, 233-234, 474 P.3d 507 (2020). As a consequence of this decision, prior simple possession convictions are unconstitutional and cannot be used in the offender score calculation.

The change in the law is material to Mr. Kelly's sentence, as the trial court impliedly found in deciding the change justified *a reduction* in Mr. Kelly's of *five years*. See id. at 234-236. Although Mr. Kelly's offender score remained above a 9, Mr. Kelly had received an exceptional sentence down before and the resentencing court believed the change in the law warranted *further* reduction. That the standard range did not change on the offenses does not matter because the issue was whether *the exceptional sentence* downward should change.

As for retroactivity, it is retroactive because <u>Blake</u> is a new substantive rule of constitutional law. <u>See id.</u> at 237. This is because the decision held that it was beyond the State's

power to enact a strict liability drug possessions statute that contained no *mens rea*.

Review should be granted on this issue because is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). Fortunately, many people have been able to obtain relief because of <u>Blake</u>. But there are many people whose offender score will remain at a 9 or greater despite the elimination prior drug possession convictions in the scoring. These people should get relief if a sentencing court believes it is warranted. This is consistent with <u>Blake</u>, which recognized the unconstitutional drug possession statute "affected thousands upon thousands of lives, and its impact has hit young men of color especially hard." 197 Wn.2d at 192. Resentencings are needed to address the problem of disproportionate sentences imposed on disadvantaged people and people of color. Review should be granted.

Upon reversal of the Court of Appeals, the case should be sent back to the trial court. As argued in Mr. Kelly's cross-

appeal and his linked case, the trial court failed to order that Mr. Kelly's sentences in the two cases be concurrent rather than consecutive given that he was being resentenced on the same day. The trial court also failed to reevaluate the imposition of legal financial obligations under current law. The Court of Appeals refused to reach these issues on the grounds that resentencing was not a proper remedy due to the time bar.

E. CONCLUSION

For the reasons outlined, this Court should grant review on these critical issues of substantial public interest.

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