FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/20/2023 11:21 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 102002-3

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent

v.

## TIMOTHY MICHAEL KELLY,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Philip K. Sorenson

No. 05-1-01173-6

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

PAMELA B. LOGINSKY Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 18096 / OID #91121 930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 (253) 798-2913

# **

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Kelly's petition asks this Court to ignore the strong policy considerations favoring finality of convictions and compliance with sentencing statutes. Kelly asks this Court to impose a barrier on the correction of a void and illegal sentence whenever

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This petition for review is available at https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/petitions/98656-8%20Petition%20for%20Review.pdf (last visited Jun. 15, 2023).

the State reduces the sentencing court's oral pronouncements to writing. But the new rule requested by Kelly is foreclosed by a long line of cases.

Kelly's request that this Court overrule two of its precedents is based upon a belief that any opinion supported by five justices is "dubious," particularly when the case was not heard en banc. He argues that such decisions are not entitled to deference and may be reversed solely upon a showing that the opinion is "wrong." *See* Petition for Review, at 21. His position is contrary to article IV, section 2 of the Washington State constitution which provides that the Washington Supreme Court renders a binding decision when a majority of the court agrees on the ruling, whether sitting en banc or with a quorum. Kelly's petition for review, therefore, should be denied.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petition for Review at 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petition for Review at 21.

# A. The Correction of Void Sentences is Not Precluded by Which Party Reduced the Court's Oral Ruling to Writing

Kelly contends that the public has a significant interest in barring the correction of void sentences solely because the State reduces the trial court's oral ruling to writing. Petition for Review at 9. Kelly, however, fails to explain why this is so. His request to immunize void sentences must be rejected.

The fixing of penalties and punishments for criminal offenses is a legislative function. *In re Pers. Restraint of Forcha-Williams*, 200 Wn.2d 581, 591, 520 P.3d 939 (2022); *State v. Guzman Nuñez*, 174 Wn.2d 707, 711, 285 P.3d 21 (2012). A sentence that is beyond the trial court's statutory authority is an invalid and void sentence. *In re Pers. Restraint of Coats*, 173 Wn.2d 123, 136, 267 P.3d 324 (2011); *State v. Smissaert*, 103 Wn.2d 636, 639, 694 P.2d 654 (1985); *State v. Paulson*, 131 Wn. App. 579, 588, 128 P.3d 133 (2006).

Where a sentence is imposed without legislative authority, courts have "not only the power but indeed the duty to correct

the length of sentence in a criminal case and even to lengthen it." *In re Pers. Restraint of Shriner*, 95 Wn.2d 541, 544, 627 P.2d 99 (1981); accord State v. Loux, 69 Wn.2d 855, 858, 420 P.2d 693 (1966) (this court "has the power and duty to correct the error upon its discovery" even where the parties not only failed to object but agreed with the sentencing judge), overruled in part on other grounds by State v Moen, 129 Wn.2d 535, 545, 919 P.2d 69 (1996). When the trial court imposes a non-statutorily authorized sentence, Washington appellate courts will regularly correct it, whether challenged directly or collaterally. *In re Pers*. Restraint of Finstad, 177 Wn.2d 501, 509 n. 9, 301 P.3d 450 (2013); State v. Paine, 69 Wn. App. 873, 881-85, 850 P.2d 1369 (1983). Neither invited error, consent, or inaction by any party relieves a court of the duty to vacate a non-statutorily authorized sentence. See, e.g., State v. Barber, 170 Wn.2d 854, 870, 872 n. 4, 248 P.3d 494 (2011) (no specific performance of plea agreement that violates statutory sentencing provisions); State v. Hardesty, 129 Wn.2d 303, 315, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996) (State's failure to appeal sentence did not preclude a CrR 7.8 motion filed two years after sentencing); *State v. Wallin*, 125 Wn. App. 648, 661-62, 105 P.3d 1037 (2005) (defendant's agreement to a sentence that violated the court's statutory authority is unenforceable).

The justification for courts to correct sentences imposed without statutory authority whenever the court becomes aware of the issue is to bring sentences in conformity and compliance with existing sentencing statutes and to avoid permitting widely varying sentences to stand simply because counsel did not register a timely objection or file a timely appeal. *State v. Moen*, 129 Wn.2d 535, 544-45, 919 P.2d 69 (1996). Sentences which are not authorized by statute result in unjust disparities, compromise public safety, and interfere in the offender's reintegration into the community.

The public's interest in compliance with sentencing statutes is so acute that the legislature has authorized a stranger to the criminal prosecution to enforce this principle when the

State fails to do so. *See* RCW 9.94A.585(7) (authorizing the department of corrections to petition for review from errors of law contained in a sentence). Kelly, however, is asking this Court to create an exception to these long and well-established principles that applies when the State memorializes the court's sentence on the judgment and sentence form. Adopting the rule Kelly seeks would require trial court judges to fill out the judgment and sentences themselves at a significant cost in efficiency. Such a squandering of scarce judicial resources should be avoided at all cost. Review should be denied.

# B. Kelly has Not Established that the 1999 *Brown* Decision is Both Wrong and Harmful

Kelly makes a request similar to that rejected by this Court in 2020: the overruling of this Court's 1999 decision in *Brown*. Petition for Review at 10-18. Kelly does not explain why this Court should reach a different conclusion based on his slightly reworded arguments.

This Court will only overrule its own precedent if the precedent is both incorrect and harmful. See, e.g., State v.

*Barber*, 170 Wn.2d 854, 864-65, 248 P.3d 494 (2011). Incorrectness and harmfulness are separate inquires. *State v. Otton*, 185 Wn.2d 673, 687-88, 374 P.3d 1108 (2016). Kelly has satisfied neither prong.

The *Brown* opinion implicates statutory stare decisis. This doctrine recognizes that the reversal of potentially wrongheaded cases construing a statute should largely be left to the legislature. See, e.g., Allen v. Milligan, 2023 WL 3872517 at \*19 and \*21 (U.S. Jun. 8, 2023) (lead opinion and Kavanaugh, J., concurring). In the 22 years since this Court issued *Brown*, the legislature has not amended RCW 9.94A.533(3)(e) to allow for exceptional mitigated sentences for adult offenders or to permit concurrent service of multiple firearm violations. In fact, multiple attempts to alter the statute in the manner Kelly requests in this appeal have been rejected. See, e.g., H.B. 1268, 68th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2023); H.B. 1169, 67th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2021); H.B. 1148, 64th Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2015); H.B. 1862, 63rd Leg. Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2013). The legislature's acceptance of this Court's decision in *Brown* precludes a finding of incorrectness.

As for harmfulness, Kelly points to racial differences in the imposition of firearm enhancements. Petition for Review at 17-18. He relies on a report from the Department of Corrections. Id. But such policy arguments in favor of allowing firearm enhancements to be served concurrently do not justify ignoring the plain language of the statute. Cf. In re Sargent, 2023 WL 3874919 at \*7 (Wash. Jun. 8, 2023) (plain language of a constitutional provision). Furthermore, the study Kelly relies upon shows no increased probability of receiving a weapons enhancement based upon race in burglary cases. See Karl Jones, Kevin Keogh, and Connor Saxe, Sentence Enhancements and Race at 2 (Mar. 1, 2022). The study also does not distinguish between Kelly's circumstances – one firearm enhancement for separate burglaries committed on different dates – from those cases in which multiple enhancements were imposed for crimes committed at the same time and place. Kelly's policy argument must be redirected to the legislature.

# C. Kelly has Not Established that *Richardson* is Both Wrong and Harmful

Kelly requests that this Court accept review and overrule its recent decision in *Richardson* because it is "wrong" and was decided by "five justices through an order". Petition for Review at 21. Kelly, who concedes that he did not assert any exception to RCW 10.73.090 in the trial court, in his brief of respondent/cross appellant, or in an RAP 10.1(f) reply brief, does not explain how *Richardson* is harmful.

While not the foundation of "our system of ordered liberty," finality of a judgment is nevertheless an important principle. *In re Pers. Restraint of Garcia Mendoza*, 196 Wn.2d 836, 840, 479 P.3d 674 (2020) (citations omitted). There is often tension between finality and other closely held values. *Garcia* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> See Petition for Review at 21-22 (claiming that he asserted an exception to RCW 10.73.100 in "his answer to the prosecution's second statement of additional authorities, filed on January 25, 2023").

*Mendoza*, 196 Wn.2d at 841. "The judicial branch strives to ensure that no one is judged by a fundamentally flawed process or restrained by a fundamentally flawed judgment." *Id.* "But challenges to judgments must be timely raised." *Id.* 

The important principle of finality shapes the analytical structure that is employed for collateral attacks on judgments. A judgment is final when it is filed with the clerk of the court if the defendant does not appeal. RCW 10.73.090(3)(a). A person has one year after the judgment is final to collaterally attack the judgment. RCW 10.73.090. After the one year statute of limitations, a petitioner has the burden of showing that one of the six exceptions of RCW 10.73.100 applies, or the judgment is invalid on its face. *In re Pers. Restraint of Adams*, 178 Wn.2d 417, 422, 309 P.3d 145 (2013).

In this Court, Kelly asserts that *Blake* satisfies RCW 10.73.100(6), the significant change in the law exception. While the State agrees that *Blake* is a material change in the law with respect to convictions for simple possession of drugs that

requires vacation of such convictions and the removal of such convictions from all offender scores, Blake is not a material change in the law with respect to other crimes or to sentences in which the reduction in the offender score did not alter the standard range. That an opinion can constitute a significant change in the law in some cases and not others is well established. See, e.g., Compare In re Pers. Restraint of Williams, 200 Wn.2d 622, 621, 530 P.3d 933 (2022) (Houston-Sconiers<sup>8</sup> is not material to an indeterminate sentence for RCW 10.73.100(6) exception to the one-year time bar) with In re Pers. Restraint of Ali, 196 Wn.2d 220, 233-36, 474 P.3d 507 (2020) (Houston-Sconiers represents a significant material change in the law for purposes of RCW 10.73.100(6) with respect to minors who received determinate sentences). See also In re Pers. Restraint

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See generally State v. Ammons, 105 Wn.2d 175, 188, 713 P.2d 719 (1986) (unconstitutional convictions must be removed from offender scores).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> State v. Houston-Sconiers, 188 Wn.2d 1, 391 P.3d 409 (2017).

of Davis, 200 Wn.2d 75, 83, 514 P.3d 653 (2022) (sentencing decision involving 19- and 20-year-olds not material under RCW 10.73.100(6) where the defendant was 21 when he committed the charged crimes); *In re Pers. Restraint of Kennedy*, 200 Wn.2d 1, 21, 513 P.3d 769 (2022) (case involving sentencing for aggravated first degree murder not material for purposes of RCW 10.73.100(6) to a sentence imposed under a different statute).

Here, Kelly does not explain how *Blake* is material to *his* 2009 sentences. *Blake* did not impact the validity of Kelly's current convictions that were included in his offender score or his prior convictions for forgery, attempt to elude, burglary, possession of stolen property, assault, or attempted theft. CP 24. These convictions alone yielded an offender score of 9+. This offender score, in turn, supported the standard range identified in the 2009 judgment and sentence. And a sentence within the applicable standard range is facially valid for purposes of RCW 10.73.090(1). *Richardson*, 200 Wn.2d at 847; *Coats*, 173 Wn.2d at 136. Kelly's petition for review must be denied.

### V. CONCLUSION

The court of appeals' compliance with binding decisions of this Court was proper. Kelly's petition for review should be denied.

This document is in 14 point font and contains 3,474 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.